Review Check for updates



Author for correspondence: Mark E. Olson Email: molson@ib.unam.mx

Received: 18 May 2020 Accepted: 14 August 2020

Tansley review

Tip-to-base xylem conduit widening as an adaptation: causes, consequences, and empirical priorities

Mark E. Olson¹ (D), Tommaso Anfodillo² (D), Sean M. Gleason^{3,4} (D) and Katherine A. McCulloh⁵ (D)

¹Instituto de Biología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Tercer Circuito s/n de Ciudad Universitaria, Mexico City 04510, Mexico; ²Department Territorio e Sistemi Agro-Forestali, University of Padova, Legnaro (PD) 35020, Italy; ³Water Management and Systems Research Unit, United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Fort Collins, CO 80526, USA; ⁴Department of Forest and Rangeland Stewardship, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523, USA; ⁵Department of Botany, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI 53706, USA

Contents

	Summary	1877
I.	Introduction	1878
II.	Tip-to-base conduit widening: a pervasive pattern requiring explanation	1878
111.	Testing hypotheses of adaptation: multiple layers of evidence necessary, no single experiment or datum sufficient	1880
IV.	Evidence for adaptation: hydraulic optimality models	1881
V.	Evidence for adaptation: experimental and comparative data on range of conduit diameters that plants can produce	the 1882

VI.	Conduit widening is unlikely to be nonadaptive	1883
VII.	Key empirical priorities	1886
VIII.	A change in the plant hydraulics paradigm: from cross-sections t entire path lengths	o 1889
IX.	Conclusion	1890
	Acknowledgements	1890
	References	1890

Summary

New Phytologist (2021) **229:** 1877–1893 **doi**: 10.1111/nph.16961

Key words: adaptation, allometry, conduit taper, developmental constraint, hydraulic architecture, plant hydraulics, tracheids, vessels.

In the stems of terrestrial vascular plants studied to date, the diameter of xylem waterconducting conduits *D* widens predictably with distance from the stem tip *L* approximating $D \propto L^b$, with $b \approx 0.2$. Because conduit diameter is central for conductance, it is essential to understand the cause of this remarkably pervasive pattern. We give reason to suspect that tip-tobase conduit widening is an adaptation, favored by natural selection because widening helps minimize the increase in hydraulic resistance that would otherwise occur as an individual stem grows longer and conductive path length increases. Evidence consistent with adaptation includes optimality models that predict the 0.2 exponent. The fact that this prediction can be made with a simple model of a single capillary, omitting much biological detail, itself makes numerous important predictions, e.g. that pit resistance must scale isometrically with conduit resistance. The idea that tip-to-base conduit widening has a nonadaptive cause, with temperature, drought, or turgor limiting the conduit diameters that plants are able to produce, is less consistent with the data than an adaptive explanation. We identify empirical priorities for testing the cause of tip-to-base conduit widening and underscore the need to study plant hydraulic systems leaf to root as integrated wholes. "...as to the *Aer-Vessels*, divers questions may be asked. As how it comes to pass, that they are generally less [narrower] in the *Trunk* of the same *Plant*, than in the *Root*?...Wherefore as the *Aer-Vessels* may be observed still to be dilated or widened towards the lower parts of the *Root*... So towards the upper part of the *Trunk*, to be contracted or grow smaller...the *Aer-Vessels* are somewhat, more or less, amplified in every new *Annual Ring*, or at least to a certain number of years...and so make a *Vessel* of a wider, as a more agreeable bore. Nature obtaining hereby, that the Quantity of *Aer*, shall always be answerable to the Growth of the *Plant* (Grew, 1682, pp. 130–131)

I. Introduction

Conduit diameters in the xylem of woody plants vary from < 5 to $> 700 \,\mu\text{m}$, and given the importance of water transport in forest productivity (Schlesinger & Jasechko, 2014; Ellison et al., 2017; Šímová & Storch, 2017) it is crucial to understand the causes of this variation within individuals and across species world-wide. A key observation is that across all terrestrial vascular plants that have been studied, conduits widen predictably from the stem tip toward the stem base (Supporting Information Table S1). Within the conductive system of a single plant, the narrowest conduits are found at the terminal end of the conductive stream, in the leaves. Within the shoot-root system, mean conduit diameter is narrowest at the shoot tip (the twig tip farthest from the base; Fig. 1) (Lechthaler et al., 2020). Mean conduit diameter becomes wider very quickly moving down the twig, and then the rate of conduit widening slows toward the base of the tree, continuing into the roots (Fig. 1a-c) (Lintunen & Kalliokoski, 2010; Jacobsen et al., 2018; Prendin et al., 2018b). As the epigraph shows, this pattern of tip-to-base increase in conduit diameter has been noticed for centuries. Despite being known for so long, tip-to-base conduit widening has yet to be recognized as one of the most widespread and functionally consequential patterns in all of plant biology, and therefore one whose causes are essential to understand. In this review, we give reason to think that this pattern is an adaptive one, a

Box 1 The 'constraint-adaptation' false dichotomy

The causes of empty space about an allometric scaling line, as in Fig. 2, are often presented as a dichotomy between adaptation and the vague notion of 'constraint' (Brakefield, 2006; Olson, 2019a). With regard to the term 'constraint', we advocate avoiding it. The term has so many meanings that its use leads very easily to misunderstanding (Olson, 2012, 2019a,b). Biologists routinely discuss biophysical constraints, environmental constraints, phylogenetic constraints, developmental constraints, even selective constraints, and all have multiple definitions. Even the specific-sounding term 'hydraulic constraints' has multiple meanings (Sperry, 2000; Koch *et al.*, 2004; Petit *et al.*, 2011). The alternative is to think in terms of what is or is not developmentally possible, and the relative fitness of developmentally possible variants, reasoning that does not require using the term 'constraint', and the vagueness it inevitably introduces (Olson *et al.*, 2019; Olson, 2019c).

A complete explanation for a pattern of trait distribution in nature, such as tip-to-base conduit widening, always involves both adaptation and limits to developmental potential (Fig. 4; Olson, 2019a). All development is bound or limited in some way by factors, such as tradeoffs or enzyme kinetics, that limit the production of configurations that would otherwise be favored by selection. At the same time, among the often vast array of developmentally possible configurations, all patterns of trait distribution in nature reflect the effects of selection (Olson, 2019a). 'Empty' parts of developmental space are often the product of selection, and selection itself is the biasing of development such that low-fitness variants are rarely or never produced (Arthur, 2002; Blumberg, 2010). Fig. 4 illustrates how both limited developmental potential and selection are likely involved in tip-to-base conduit widening. Because both developmental limitations and adaptation are involved in generating any given pattern in nature, the adaptation-constraint dichotomy is a false one.

response to the hydraulic challenge imposed by increasing conductive path length as an individual stem grows longer. We discuss data that are consistent with the pattern being adaptive, and we identify crucial information still needed to test the hypothesis of its adaptiveness. We also examine, and give reasons to reject, the possibility that the pattern is

Fig. 1 Within and across-individual evidence for tip-to-base vessel widening. (a) Xylem transections showing that conduits farther from the tip are wider (Leonotis leonurus, Lamiaceae). The widest conduit in a given section is shown in each image. Within the stem, the vessels (stained red) are narrowest at the stem tip. Near the tip, conduits widen very quickly and within just a few centimeters are noticeably wider. They widen more slowly toward the stem base and continue widening into the roots. Bar (bottom of first micrograph), 100 µm. (b) A typical mean conduit diameter profile, from a 50 m Ceiba pentandra. The fitted line describing mean conduit diameter D vs distance from the stem tip L approximates a power law as $D \propto L^{0.2}$. Thin lines show the location of sampling points. (c) Especially conspicuous in larger trees, conduit widening profiles often depart from the expectations of a pure power law, being steadily narrower than expected. The cause of this departure has not been extensively explored. This example is from Sequoia sempervirens (Williams et al., 2019). (d) Withinindividual vessel widening profiles lead to predictable patterns of conduit widening with plant height across individuals. Under log transformation, power law relationships become linear. The colored lines represent tip-to-base widening profiles of the same individual as it grows taller, with the usual within-individual slope of 0.2. In vessel-bearing angiosperms, mean vessel diameter at the stem tip (the distalmost twig from the base) becomes predictably wider. This means that the Y-intercept of the within-individual tip-to-base widening profile increases as an individual grows taller. Because, within individuals, vessel diameter VD increases with distance from the stem tip DistTip as VD \propto DistTip^{0.2}, and because terminal twig vessel diameter VD_{tip} increases with plant height as $VD_{tip} \propto H^{0.2}$, plotting vessel diameter at the stem base against plant height H across individuals (black line) yields a slope of VD $\propto H^{0.4}$. In this way, withinindividual ontogenetic patterns lead straightforwardly to across-individual patterns. (e) Illustrating across-individual relationships, mean vessel diameter at the stem base scales predictably with plant height as VD $\propto H^{0.4}$, and vessel diameter at the stem tip as VD_{tip} $\propto H^{0.2}$ across 537 species of angiosperms (Olson *et al.*, 2018b). (f) Variation about the Y-axis in the VD-H relationship across species is consistent with selection altering the relationship adaptively. For example, for the same plant height, drought deciduous species tend to have wider vessels than evergreen species. Cold-deciduous species, in turn, tend to have the narrowest vessels given the same plant height (Olson et al., 2020).



nonadaptive, involving proximate, developmental conditions such as temperature, drought, and turgor limiting the possible conduit diameters ('constraint', see Box 1) that plants can produce. We then turn to outstanding empirical priorities and methodological considerations. First, we explain what we mean by 'tip-to-base conduit widening'.

1880 Review



Fig. 2 Explaining tip-to-base conduit widening requires exploring developmental potential. (a) Tip-to-base conduit widening is a pervasive pattern of restricted trait distribution, with the observed data falling in a conspicuous band, and distance from the stem tip predicting mean conduit diameter at any point along the stem. Just as conspicuously, there are empty spaces above and below the scaling line. This pattern requires explanation, including what causes the empty spaces. (b) One possibility is that the spaces adjacent to the observed scaling line are readily produced developmentally but are not favored by selection because of factors such as excessive vulnerability to embolism (conduits 'too wide' given stem length) or excessive resistance (conduits 'too narrow'). (c) Alternatively, one or both of the empty spaces are developmentally inaccessible; for example, factors such as gravity, hydraulic resistance, temperature, or turgor affecting cell expansion along the stem make 'empty space' conduit diameters developmentally impossible even though these variants would be favored by selection if they could be produced. These alternatives lead to very different explanations for tip-to-base conduit widening. Distinguishing between them requires determining whether the empty spaces are developmentally accessible or not.

II. Tip-to-base conduit widening: a pervasive pattern requiring explanation

Tip-to-base conduit widening has been recognized for centuries (Grew, 1682; Sanio, 1872; Mencuccini et al., 2007; Anfodillo et al., 2013; Rosell et al., 2017), but detailed data have only been collected recently. The most direct data are studies of tip-to-base conduit widening from the distalmost twig to the stem base within individuals (Fig. 1a-c). Such tip-to-base widening profiles have been gathered from at least 101 species (Table S1) spanning the angiosperm phylogeny (representing 61 of the 64 or so orders) and all five gymnosperm orders, as well as ferns, clubmosses, horsetails, and spikemosses (L. Kocillari et al. unpublished, available from www.try-db.org as upload 388; V. Figueroa et al. upload 389; James et al., 2003; Anfodillo et al., 2006, 2012; Coomes et al., 2007; Mencuccini et al., 2007; Petit et al., 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2014; Lintunen & Kalliokoski, 2010; Bettiati et al., 2012; Petit & Crivellaro, 2014; Echeverría et al., 2019; Fajardo et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019). This sampling spans a very wide range of plant habits from the world's tallest trees (over 100 m tall) to desert shrubs, lianas, cacti, and arborescent monocots, as well as most of the world's climates. Our unpublished data show that even the hydroids of the 50 cm tall moss Dendroligotrichum dendroides widen from tip to base. In addition to these within-individual data, evidence from 3195 angiosperm and 244 gymnosperm species shows that mean conduit diameter at the stem base scales similarly with plant height across individuals and species (V. Figueroa et al. unpublished, www.try-db.org upload 389; Anfodillo et al., 2006; Medeiros & Pockman, 2014; Olson et al., 2014, 2018b, 2020; Fajardo et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019). This scaling across individuals is expected if conduits widen similarly tip-to-base within individuals (Fig. 1d). Because conduit widening is broadly similar across individuals, sampling short-to-tall individuals at comparable points on the stem (e.g. stem base and tip) will recover a predictable

pattern of conduit diameter increase with plant height even across species (Fig. 1e,f). Moreover, the well-known pattern of radial increase in conduit dimensions from pith to cambium is consistent with tip-to-base conduit widening (Malpighi, 1675; Grew, 1682; Bailey & Tupper, 1918; Olson & Rosell, 2006; Fan et al., 2009; Olson et al., 2014; Cabon et al., 2020). Wider bases tend to have wider conduits because they usually correspond to taller stems (Anfodillo et al., 2013). Conduit diameter-stem diameter data exemplifying these trends are available from at least 310 species of angiosperm (Carlquist & Grant, 2005; Olson & Rosell, 2013; Olson et al., 2013). Being detected across thousands of species spanning the vascular plant phylogeny in virtually all plant habits and habitats, the pattern of tip-to-base conduit widening is pervasive. Given the dependence of conductivity on conduit diameter (Catovsky et al., 2002; Scoffoni et al., 2016), the pattern is unquestionably a functionally important one, but, nearly 350 yr after Grew posed the question in the epigraph, plant biologists have yet to agree on its causes. Before reviewing the evidence showing that conduit widening is almost certainly adaptive, we briefly touch on the data necessary for testing hypotheses of adaptation.

III. Testing hypotheses of adaptation: multiple layers of evidence necessary, no single experiment or datum sufficient

The hypothesis that a scaling pattern, such as tip-to-base conduit widening (Fig. 2a), is due to adaptation makes numerous predictions, all of which need to be tested for a maximally supported explanation (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015). First, there must be variation in the trait of interest. This variation needs to be among individuals within the same population, because the relevant 'competition' involved in natural selection is within species, not between them (Olson *et al.*, 2019). This variation needs to be heritable, meaning that progeny tend to resemble their parents.



Fig. 3 Selection should favor a rate of tip-to-base conduit widening of *c*. 0.2. (a) Modeling conduit diameter *D* widening with distance from the stem tip *L* in a single conduit that is continuous from the tip to the base of a plant. The conduit is divided into cylindrical segments such that the resistance of each segment can be easily calculated. The change in diameter between segments is given by the widening exponent, varying from zero, a tube of constant diameter, to 0.3, a tube that widens quickly from tip to base. (b) Poisueuille's law gives the resistance of each segment. Resistance increases linearly with segment length and decreases with the fourth power of conduit radius. (c) The resistance of the entire conduit is the resistance of each segment summed. (d) Varying the widening exponent of the single conduit from zero to *c*. 0.3 reveals a striking pattern. Exponents of around 0.2 are associated with near-constant resistance along virtually the entire range of increase in conduit length (indicated by the curve that is level throughout most of its range). Given exponents of 0, 0.1, 0.15, 0.2 and 0.25 over a height range of 1–20 m, this simple model predicts increases in resistance of 20, 6.2, 3.6, 2.3 and 1.6 times, respectively. Scaling exponents < 0.2 are associated with conduits that are 'too narrow', with resistance increasing with conduit length. Exponents > 0.2 are also associated with near-constant resistance, but with conduits that are 'too wide'; that is, wider than necessary for achieving near-constant resistance. Being too wide means that they are potentially more vulnerable to embolism and, all else being equal, require more carbon to build. Selection should therefore favor the 'just right' 0.2 exponent. That such a simple model, of a single capillary continuous from tip to base, so closely predicts the commonly observed pattern is a remarkable observation requiring explanation.

Finally, this heritable intrapopulational variation needs to be sufficiently wide that variants with significantly different fitness can be produced (Caruso *et al.*, 2020). In the context of conduit scaling, intrapopulational variants farther above or below the commonly observed scaling line should have lower performance and fitness than conspecifics closer to the scaling line (Fig. 2b; Anfodillo *et al.*, 2016).

Data that test these predictions come from three complementary sources (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015). One source is optimality models, which use basic biophysical principles to predict the compromise between two or more competing functions that maximizes some performance criterion (e.g. hydraulic conductance per carbon (C) cost). The second source is population and experimental biology, which examine variation, heritability, and fitness directly (or some performance index, such as vulnerability to embolism, that is likely to correlate with fitness). The third source is provided by the comparative method, which uses convergence, the repeated observation of similar organismal characteristics derived from differing ancestral states arising in similar selective conditions, as evidence of adaptation. All three sources of evidence are essential for testing hypotheses of adaptation, with none being more inferentially powerful than another (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015).

Distinguishing between adaptive vs nonadaptive explanations for tip-to-base conduit widening is essential for understanding the evolution of plant hydraulic systems, and even in designing interventions to make plants more resistant to drought in the face of climate change. For example, if the spaces in Fig. 2 are accessible, then it indicates that it should be possible to select for differing conduit diameters for a given plant height, potentially producing more drought-resistant variants (cf. Rosner et al., 2016). If these spaces are not accessible developmentally ('constraint', Box 1), then it suggests that the variants available for selection to act on are limited and that the evolutionary resilience of plants to climate change is limited to that extent. We examine, and give reasons to reject, non-adaptive interpretations. Instead, the preponderance of the evidence suggests that the best explanation for the pattern of tipto-base conduit widening is that it is the result of adaptation, with natural selection narrowing a wider field of developmental possibilities (Figs 2-4), and we turn to this now.

IV. Evidence for adaptation: hydraulic optimality models

Some of the most compelling evidence consistent with adaptation shaping tip-to-base conduit widening comes from optimality

Box 2 Conduits widen, not taper

Tip-to-base conduit widening is often referred to as conduit 'taper', but 'widening' better describes the postulated action of natural selection shaping conduit diameter distributions. Natural selection favors very narrow conduits at the terminal end of the conductive stream. This will occur independently of tree height, leaf size, and plant habit: the narrowest conduits in the conductive system will be at the sites where water exits the xylem into the mesophyll. This vector of natural selection favoring narrow conduits at the sites of maximal diffusion out of the xylem is entirely orthogonal to that favoring conduit widening.

Following Poiseuille's law, if conduits were to remain uniform in diameter from tip to base and as a plant grows taller then resistance would increase as a linear function of conductive path length (Fig. 3). It is this increase in resistance that is buffered by conduit diameter increase. This means that conduit diameter throughout the plant body is chiefly a function of distance from the terminal end of the conductive stream (plus any furcation that might occur; McCulloh et al., 2004). Selection therefore favors conduits that widen from a maximally and persistently narrow terminal point. The diameters at the base of a tree or at the terminal ends of the roots are simply reflections of the distance from the tip and are thus contingent on the length of the conductive path at that point. Selection does not favor a given conduit diameter at the base or in the roots independently of path length. As a result, conduits cannot be considered as narrowing or tapering from a fixed or favored basal diameter to their narrow tips. Instead, they widen from their terminal diameters as a function of path length: conduits widen, not taper.

models. Conduits are narrowest at the terminal end of the leaf xylem. Following Poiseuille's law, if these conduits were to remain narrow from their termini to the base then, as a plant grows in height and conductive path length increases, hydraulic conductance would decline as resistance increases (Vogel, 1994). Because conductance increases with conduit radius to the fourth power, small increases in conduit diameter from tip to base along the entire conductive path are, in principle, sufficient to buffer the increases in resistance caused by increasing path length, and thus minimize increases in resistance as a plant grows taller (see Box 2 on 'widening' vs 'taper'; Becker *et al.*, 2000; Mencuccini *et al.*, 2007; Rosell *et al.*, 2017).

The simplest model that makes a prediction strikingly close to the pattern of tip-to-base conduit widening observed empirically in stems and roots is of a single widened pipe stretching from the tip to the base of a plant (Fig. 3; West *et al.*, 1999; Becker *et al.*, 2000; Petit & Anfodillo, 2009; Anfodillo *et al.*, 2013; Olson *et al.*, 2018b). We turn to complexities omitted by this model later, but for now it is sufficient to note that, because resistances in series can be summed, the resistance of a single idealized tube is readily calculated as a series of cylindrical segments of different diameters (Fig. 3a–c; West *et al.*, 1999; Becker *et al.*, 2000; Anfodillo *et al.*, 2013). It is possible to express the relationship between conduit diameter D and distance from the tip along the stem of a single individual L with a power function $D \propto L^b$, where b is the tip-tobase conduit widening exponent. It describes how fast or slow the widening is from the tip to the base of a stem. When b = 0, the



Fig. 4 Tip-to-base conduit widening, adaptation, and limits to development. (a) The notion that tip-to-base conduit widening reflects the effects of selection posits a scenario as depicted here. The figure shows one possible way that conduit diameters are bounded, both wide and narrow, for a given distance from the tip. (b) Within these bounds, it suggests that there should be *sufficient developmental variation such that different slopes and intercepts can be produced*. It is this range of variation that selection can act on, leading to convergence on the universal pattern of tip-to-base conduit widening observed across the vascular plants.

single tube being modeled does not widen at all, as in the pipe model (Shinozaki *et al.*, 1964a,b), and resistance increases linearly with *L*. When modeling conduits that widen at moderate rates (e.g. b = 0.05 to 0.1), substantial resistance accrues with increasing height *L*, but at a slower rate than in a conduit that does not widen. As *b* approaches 0.2, resistances associated with increasing height become markedly reduced, and nearly constant over much of the range of height increase (Fig. 3d).

Which of these exponents should be favored by selection can be identified by appealing to the tradeoff between hydraulic conductance and vulnerability to embolism, or possibly conductance per conduit C cost. Given that values of b < 0.2 would result in large cumulative resistances as a plant grows taller, water delivery to the leaves, gas exchange, and photosynthesis would be similarly reduced (Catovsky *et al.*, 2002; Scoffoni *et al.*, 2016). If resistance accrued significantly with height growth, individuals that grow taller would be severely penalized. This is because individuals with markedly increasing resistance (b < 0.2) will experience drops in leaf-specific conductance and therefore photosynthetic productivity with height growth, and so will always be at a fitness disadvantage with respect to conspecifics in which productivity drops more slowly ($b \approx 0.2$). If conduits widen more rapidly (b > 0.2), the small decrease in whole-conduit resistance that this

would confer (Fig. 3d) would potentially not provide enough additional water transport and photosynthesis to offset the C required for their widening (Mencuccini *et al.*, 2007). In addition to their higher C costs, excessively wide conduits (b > 0.2) could also be more vulnerable to freezing and drought-induced embolism (Hargrave *et al.*, 1994; Pittermann & Sperry, 2006; Cai & Tyree, 2010; Savage & Cavender-Bares, 2013; Sevanto *et al.*, 2012; Rosner *et al.*, 2016; Jacobsen *et al.*, 2019; Liu *et al.*, 2019). Taken together, the 'just right' exponent should result in the optimization of whole-xylem resistance, vasculature construction cost, and embolism risk, and this exponent is predicted to be in the neighborhood of 0.2 (Fig. 3d).

Empirical data coincide strikingly with this prediction, with within-individual widening in the shoot-root system in all cases so far being close to 0.2 (0.1-0.3) (Anfodillo et al., 2006, 2012; Coomes et al., 2007; Petit et al., 2008, 2009, 2011, 2014; Bettiati et al., 2012; Petit & Crivellaro, 2014; Echeverría et al., 2019; Fajardo et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019). This result strongly suggests that natural selection has placed a premium on vascular designs with conduits that widen from tip to base in a way that minimizes the increase in hydraulic resistance that would otherwise arise as plants grow taller. Such coincidence between empirical data and optimality models is very difficult to explain without appeal to natural selection (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015), strongly consistent with tip-to-base conduit widening being an adaptive pattern. Optimality models do not imply that *all* plants should follow the same pattern. Instead, if selection acts similarly in most plants, then across large samples the exponents should tend to converge on the predicted one. As we explore in the next section, variation about the predicted relationship seems likely under some situations, indeed providing key evidence in favor of an adaptive explanation for tipto-base conduit widening.

V. Evidence for adaptation: experimental and comparative data on the range of conduit diameters that plants can produce

One way of testing the expectation that tip-to-base conduit widening is adaptive is via experiments that manipulate concentrations of auxin, which is known to be a key regulator of cell expansion, including vessels (Hacke et al., 2017; Arsuffi & Braybrook, 2018). Populus stems treated with auxin transport inhibitors produce significantly narrower vessels (Junghans et al., 2004, 2006). One experiment (Johnson et al., 2018) found that blocking auxin transport changed the shape of the vessel diameter distribution and that this impacted performance, producing stems with reduced specific conductivity and potentially differing vulnerability to embolism. These results are consistent with an adaptive explanation for tip-to-base conduit widening. If conduit widening reflects limited developmental possibility (Fig. 2c) rather than adaptation, then even hormonal perturbation would be unable to alter the conduit diameter-stem length relationship. Instead of being the only configurations possible, adaptations are simply one of many possible variants, the one or ones favored by selection in a given context. So, finding that variation is developmentally possible and, moreover, that it is associated with marked

shifts in function is consistent with two of the three conditions necessary for observing selection, namely, that variation is possible and that this variation is associated with performance and likely fitness differences (Olson, 2012; Caruso *et al.*, 2020).

In addition to experiments, comparative data also provide evidence that variation in the conduit diameter-height relationship is subject to selection. If tip-to-base conduit widening is forged by selection, then alternatives to the common pattern must be developmentally possible but not favored by selection under most situations (Fig. 3). In experimental studies, researchers compare variation between control and manipulated plants. In comparative studies, the variation is observed across species (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015). It is possible to use the vast differences in climate, size, life form, and other selective conditions that plants have evolved under to search for conditions that have favored variation in tip-to-base conduit widening. One example comes from a comparison between the vessel diameter-stem length relationship across 1409 samples that included 84 lianas and 340 selfsupporting angiosperm species (Rosell & Olson, 2014). This study showed that lianas and self-supporting plants have similar mean vessel diameters for a given stem length. However, lianas had wider vessel diameter variances for a given stem length than selfsupporting plants did. That is, for a given stem length, lianas had both significantly wider maximum vessel diameters and significantly narrower minimum vessel diameters. This pattern has been interpreted as the result of selection favoring wider maximum vessel diameter and conductively efficient vessels in these narrowstemmed plants, as well as abundant embolism-resistant narrow ones (Carlquist, 1985a; Rosell & Olson, 2014). This observation is consistent with the space above and below the scaling line being accessible but not favored by selection in self-supporting plants (Fig. 2b). Other comparative studies have shown that, for a given height, vessel-bearing angiosperms in warmer climates have slightly wider vessels than those in cooler ones, potentially the result of selection favoring greater conductance, and thus wider vessels, for a given photosynthetic productivity, in the context of higher vapor pressure deficit (Gleason et al., 2013; Olson et al., 2014, 2018b; Olson, Anfodillo et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2018). Likewise, there is evidence that features such as leaf phenology, wood density, porosity type, and perforation plate type are associated with adaptively significant variation in conduit scaling slope and intercept (Fig. 1f; Petit et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2020). Together, these studies indicate that, for a given stem length, and therefore conductive path length, woody plants can produce not only narrower conduits but also wider conduits than usually observed for a given stem length. Finding that variation is possible, and, moreover, that it is functionally significant, strongly suggests that the general pattern of tip-to-base conduit widening is an adaptive one.

Data such as these, showing coincidence on the tip-to-base conduit scaling exponent predicted by a very simple optimality model (Fig. 3), as well as functionally significant variation in the conduit diameter–plant height relationship, are consistent with the hypothesis that tip-to-base conduit widening is adaptive. They suggest that variation in the scaling relationship, the first criterion for observing selection, is indeed possible (Fig. 2b). This is suggested by experimental perturbation of development and by comparative observations suggesting that the conduit diameter height relationship can vary under differing selective conditions. Coincidence on the exponent predicted by optimality models is consistent with the observed scaling pattern being the one favored by selection. These observations are consistent with the second and third conditions necessary for observing selection; namely, that developmentally possible variation is also heritable and that it is associated with performance and fitness differences. Numerous crucial points, however, remain to be tested. One of these is to consider the possibility that the tip-to-base scaling pattern is not an adaptive one (Fig. 2c).

VI. Conduit widening is unlikely to be nonadaptive

Conduit diameter varies conspicuously with factors such as temperature and water availability, often throughout the growing season (Cook & Kairiukstis, 2013), so it is necessary to examine the possibility that the slope and intercept of tip-to-base changes in diameter might be a consequence of these external factors, rather than an adaptation. Wood anatomists frequently document features ranging from abnormal conduit diameters to the production of resin canals, parenchyma bands, or suberized cells in response to traumas such as sudden drought, flash freezes during the growing season, and wounding (Wilkes, 1986; Carlquist, 1988, 1989, 2001; Taylor & Ryberg, 2007). Others suggest that accumulating hydraulic resistance and gravity with height could lower turgor below that necessary for cell expansion and lead to reduction of cell dimensions at the tops of tall trees (Ryan & Yoder, 1997; Koch et al., 2004). All of these potentially offer candidates for nonadaptive causes of tip-to-base conduit widening.

The key diagnostic for distinguishing adaptive vs nonadaptive causes in the sense we invoke here (Fig. 4) is whether or not plants can produce alternative scaling relationships, and whether or not the alternatives have (or would have if they could be produced) higher fitness than the commonly observed relationship. In the case of adaptation, alternatives to the commonly observed relationship should be producible, but not commonly observed in natural populations because they have low fitness (Fig. 2b; Olson, 2012; Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015; Anfodillo et al., 2016; Rosell et al., 2017). If conduit diameters are limited nonadaptively by gravity, drought, cold, or hydraulic resistance, then this implies that, given the conditions under which conduits are expanding, production of wider conduits is impossible, even though these would be favored by selection (Fig. 2c). For example, Cabon et al. (2020) modeled tracheid expansion based on water potential. They found that 'tracheid enlargement and final dimensions can be modeled based on the direct effect of water potential on turgor-driven cell expansion' (p. 209) and hypothesized that 'the gradual pressure drop along the hydraulic path (Woodruff et al., 2004; Meinzer et al., 2008) [the cited authors attribute the drop to gravity and hydraulic resistance] appears to be an adequate candidate to explain the universal tree base-to-top tapering of xylem conduits (Anfodillo et al., 2006, 2012; Olson et al., 2014), as well as limitations to tree height (Koch et al., 2004)' (p. 218).

That Cabon et al. (2020) invoke only developmental conditions and causes, and not the fitness impacts of heritable intrapopulational variation, suggests the possibility that factors such as water availability, gravity, and hydraulic resistance could cause tip-tobase conduit widening in ways that are nonadaptive. The scenario of Cabon et al. (2020) implies that water potential limits the possible range of tracheid diameters that can be produced and that alternative conduit diameters are developmentally impossible. Similarly, studies that suggest that conduit diameters are limited by gravity and hydraulic resistance at the tips of tall trees (Ryan & Yoder, 1997; Koch et al., 2004; Woodruff et al., 2004; Woodruff & Meinzer, 2011) postulate situations in which conduit diameters are limited nonadaptively. If this were true, it would imply that tall trees cannot produce wider conduits even though these would result in further height growth, greater leaf-specific conductivity, and higher fitness. In contrast to this perspective, if the conduit diameters observed in these studies are adaptive, this would suggest that plants can produce wider or narrower conduits in a given situation, but that under the same selective conditions these variants would have lower fitness than the observed ones (Fig. 2b).

Available data suggest that under normal conditions, and especially with regard to tip-to-base conduit widening, conduit diameter is finely tuned by adaptation. This means that plants are, under almost all conditions, producing the conduit diameters favored by selection out of a much wider array of possible diameters (as in Fig. 2b), rather than being limited nonadaptively by the conditions they find themselves developing in (as in Fig. 2c). Even under the extreme conditions of maximal plant height, there is little evidence to suggest that path length and gravity reduce conduit dimensions. If this were the case, then taller trees, especially ones close to their height limits, should have increasingly narrow conduits at the tips of topmost twigs than shorter individuals do, but data do not bear out this prediction. In a study in Sequoia and Sequoiadendron, Williams et al. (2019) found that terminal twig tracheid diameter showed no decline within individuals well below maximum height to individuals over 100 m tall. Similarly, across species, mean tracheid diameter in the terminal twigs of gymnosperms either increases or shows no tendency to decrease with height (Prendin et al., 2018a), and across angiosperms, terminal twig vessel diameter actually increases with plant height (Fig. 1d,e; Zach et al., 2010; Olson et al., 2014, 2018b, 2020). These patterns are all consistent with plants producing the adaptively favored conduit diameter along the entire conductive path, rather than gravity and path length imposing nonadaptive limits to conduit diameter.

Similarly, temperature and water availability do not appear to modify the conduit diameter–plant height relationship in ways consistent with nonadaptive limitation of development. If water availability limited the ranges of conduit diameters that can be produced, then plants in drier sites would have narrower conduits for a given plant height than those in moist ones, but this is not the case. In a study of tip-to-base vessel widening of two angiosperms across a very marked mean annual precipitation gradient (500– 2300 mm), Fajardo *et al.* (2019) found that both the slope and intercept of tip-to-base widening profiles was unchanged. Lechthaler *et al.* (2018) found similar results across seven species

of Acacia across a different precipitation gradient (330-1110 mm). One study reported marginal differences in intercept (P = 0.02) between Fraxinus trees growing in soils with high vs low moisture retention (Kiorapostolou & Petit, 2019). In temperate conifers, various researchers have found constant tip-to-base conduit widening across gradients of nutrient availability and temperature (Coomes et al., 2007; Piermattei et al., 2020), and even across trees subject to experimental manipulation of CO2 concentration and soil temperature (Prendin et al., 2018b). Similarly, water availability did not affect the slope or the intercept of the relationship between mean vessel diameter per species and stem length across hundreds of angiosperm species spanning most of the world's climates (Olson et al., 2014, 2018b; Morris et al., 2018). This constancy of scaling would be impossible if water availability nonadaptively limited the range of vessel diameters that can be produced. With regard to the role of temperature in limiting the developmental range of conduit diameters, Petit et al. (2011) heated growing tips in wild spruce trees growing at their upper elevation limit for 2 yr. They found that heated and unheated plants produced the same total range of tracheid diameters. Similar total ranges would only be possible if the temperatures normally encountered by these trees did not limit the range of tracheid diameters that the trees could produce in development.

Together, these studies indicate that tip-to-base conduit widening is most likely adaptive. The consistency with which similar conduit diameter-plant height scaling relationships are observed across very large environmental gradients (Coomes et al., 2007; Lechthaler et al., 2018; Olson et al., 2018b; Fajardo et al., 2019) gives no reason to suspect that tip-to-base conduit widening is a nonadaptive result of limiting developmental conditions (Fig. 2c; the dashed lines in Fig. 4). Rather than being the inevitable result of environmental conditions, the production of narrow conduits during dry or cold conditions is consistent with the possibility that narrower conduits are more resistant to both freezing (Pittermann & Sperry, 2006; Savage & Cavender-Bares, 2013; Sevanto et al., 2012) and drought-induced embolism (Hargrave et al., 1994; Cai & Tyree, 2010; Liu et al., 2019) and therefore favored by selection. Even given this evidence, numerous questions remain to be addressed.

VII. Key empirical priorities

Observations such as convergence on the predicted $D \propto L^{0.2}$ exponent are only plausibly explained by appeal to selection narrowing a wide field of developmental possibility (Figs 2b, 3). However, despite convincing evidence that conduit widening is adaptive, crucial data remain to be collected, and we highlight important priorities here.

1. Are the empty spaces developmentally accessible or not? Variation in intercept

By far the most important outstanding empirical priority in probing the adaptive origin of tip-to-base conduit widening is to test the developmental accessibility of the empty spaces around the empirical allometric scaling pattern. If selection is responsible for tip-to-base conduit widening, it means that there is (or at least once was) sufficient variation in developmental potential across the individuals of a species such that alternative log-log tip-to-base conduit widening patterns are possible (Fig. 4). The auxin inhibitor experiment of Johnson et al. (2018) is informative because it shows that the 'conduits too narrow' portion of Fig. 2b is eminently reachable. The 'too wide' area (above the curve) remains to be explored in detail. One approach to test the accessibility of this region is artificial selection. Vascular plants of appropriately short generation times could be bred such that those with relatively wide and relatively narrow conduits for a given stem length could be produced (cf. Rosner et al., 2016). This would demonstrate the crucial presence not only of developmentally possible variation within populations but also that this variation is heritable. Hormonal and genetic manipulation in the spirit of Johnson et al. (2018) and Scarpella (2017) would allow mapping of a likely even wider space of developmental possibilities than artificial selection.

2. Are the empty spaces developmentally accessible or not? Variation in scaling exponent

In addition to the intercept, it also remains to be determined directly whether selection can alter the tip-to-base widening exponent (Stillwell et al., 2016). There is some evidence that, within a species, taller individuals have slightly lower tip-to-base scaling exponents (Mencuccini et al., 2007; Petit et al., 2008). It could be that increases in leaf size from small to large plants lead to longer conductive path lengths in the leaves. This would lead to wider conduits at the petiole base in leaves, and thus wider terminal twig conduit diameters. A lower scaling exponent would then result in the favored conduit diameters at the stem base. Congruent with this expectation, in palms, most conduit widening occurs in their very large leaves, with widening in the stem being very slight (Petit et al., 2014). These examples suggest that the conduit widening rate in the stem can vary in ways that are adaptive, but the pervasiveness and cause of these patterns have not been explored. The acrossspecies vessel diameter-stem length scaling slope does appear to vary across some selective contexts; for example, with the earlywood vessels of ring porous species scaling with a steeper exponent than the latewood vessels (Olson et al., 2020). Another way that the widening exponent could vary adaptively is suggested by models that indicate the tip-to-base widening exponent can vary if conduit number varies across stem segments (McCulloh et al., 2003, 2004; Savage et al., 2010; Rosell et al., 2017). Whether variation in the scaling exponent (c. 0.1-0.3) is systematically related to variation in conduit number remains to be explored. All of these data suggest that slope can vary under selection, but further testing, as with artificial selection experiments, would be ideal. In addition, all published data so far regarding tip-to-base conduit widening have examined terrestrial plants, in which water must be brought to the leaves all the way from the roots. However, it seems possible that, in submerged aquatic plants, selection favoring the minimization of resistance along the entire path length might be relaxed and different exponents might be observed (Drobnitch et al., 2015), a result that would be strongly consistent with the notion that the





Fig. 5 Considerations for sampling. Many details remain to be worked out regarding optimal sampling, and we provide some working considerations here. (a) Within-individual tip-to-base profiles. Ideally, sample quite densely at the stem tip because conduit diameter changes very rapidly there. To identify true conduit diameter distributions, expert anatomical work is needed, and image analysis software will be unreliable for measuring all but the simplest anatomies. (b, c) Sampling across individuals (e.g. stem tip and base samples vs plant height). (b) When terminal twig conduit diameter D_{tip} does not increase with plant height *L* (e.g. when leaf size does not increase with height), then conduit diameter at the base scales with height as about $D_{base} \propto L^{0.2}$. Sampling a fixed distance from the tip should be comparable across individuals. (c) However, when D_{tip} does increase with plant height, the increase in 'starting diameter' (i.e. conduit diameter–plant height Y-intercept) needs to be taken into account (see Box 3). Because there is wide variation about the Y-axis (Fig. 1e,f), it is essential to measure as wide a height range as possible; if a wide range is not available and no relationship is apparent, data can be overlain on available global data (e.g. Olson *et al.*, 2020). (d) Much remains to be established regarding best practices for standardizing twig samples, as for measurements of vulnerability to embolism. Collecting samples at a constant distance from the twig tip, and including leaf size as a covariate in analyses (see Box 3), would be an important step toward more comparable sampling. Round insets in (a) top to bottom: *Vahlia capensis, Fraxinus uhdei, Trochodendron aralioides*.

New Phytologist (2021) **229:** 1877–1893 www.newphytologist.com commonly observed tip-to-base scaling exponent across terrestrial plants is one favored by selection.

3. Do empty space variants have lower fitness than the commonly observed ones?

Whether achieved by natural or artificial selection or by perturbation of development, creating 'empty space' variants would allow testing directly the prediction that variants in the 'too wide' and 'too narrow' spaces should have lower performance and fitness with respect to conspecifics along the usual scaling line (Fig. 2b; Anfodillo *et al.*, 2016). Selective factors leading to 'empty space' potentially include increased vulnerability to embolism in the 'too wide' zone and reduced stomatal conductance in the 'too narrow' zone. Finding that variants in the 'too wide' and 'too narrow' zones can be produced developmentally, that they are heritable, and that they are associated with lower performance or fitness than those along the normal scaling line would provide the outstanding layers of evidence necessary to clinch the adaptive interpretation of tip-tobase conduit widening.

4. What is selection acting on in favoring tip-to-base conduit scaling?

In most questions of adaptation, determining why certain variants are associated with greater or lesser fitness is a perennial challenge (MacColl, 2011), and tip-to-base conduit widening is no exception. The scenario we sketched herein, with selection minimizing the increase in hydraulic resistance with height growth, is a very general one and invokes numerous points that remain to be tested in detail. Gravity and its contribution to resistance, for example, does not appear to be the main driver favoring conduit widening. If gravity were the main selective agent, then prostrate, climbing, and other nonvertical habits would have differing conduit widening patterns, but they are apparently identical to erect self-supporting plants (Rosell & Olson, 2014; see also Domec *et al.*, 2019). However, the relative influences of gravity and pathlength on conduit widening remain to be disentangled in detail.

Given the strong relationship between hydraulic conductance and photosynthesis (Catovsky et al., 2002; Scoffoni et al., 2016), and photosynthesis and C gain (Kikuzawa & Lechowicz, 2006; Selaya & Anten, 2010; Stephenson et al., 2014), it seems likely that tip-to-base conduit widening, such that hydraulic conductance remains constant per unit leaf area with height growth, is a result of selection favoring the maintenance of whole-plant productivity. Within a species, individuals whose leaf-specific photosynthetic productivity declines with stem length increase would experience a continual decline in surplus C directed to growth and reproduction. Individuals with the lowest decline in photosynthetic productivity per unit leaf area with height growth would maintain the largest C surpluses as they grow taller. These individuals would, as a result, have higher growth rates and produce more propagules, meaning that in any given population, selection should always be expected to favor individuals with the lowest decline possible in leaf-specific photosynthetic productivity with height growth. This notion remains to be tested in detail, though some data are

consistent with it. One observation is that tree crowns fix a relatively similar amount of C across species over a growing season (Poorter et al., 1990; Selaya & Anten, 2010; Michaletz et al., 2014; Stephenson et al., 2014). Others document wood production that is apparently constant per unit leaf area as trees grow in height (Sillett et al., 2010). Such constancies would be impossible if the whole-plant net CO₂ assimilation rate dropped appreciably per unit leaf area with height growth. Congruent with this idea, in an experiment in the tropical tree Moringa oleifera, Echeverría et al. (2019) found that vessel diameter and number change with height growth in a way that maintained hydraulic conductance constant with leaf area. Some researchers, however, have documented drops in photosynthetic productivity and stomatal conductance with height growth (Koch et al., 2004; Ambrose et al., 2016). Maintaining constant (or increasing) conductance with height growth is likely especially important for forest tree species, which grow up through a dark and humid understory into much higher radiation environments with higher evaporative demand (Gleason et al., 2018b).

In the same way, selection plausibly favors conduits that widen enough but not excessively via a tradeoff between conductance and C cost. Given conduits of identical length, a conduit that widens 'too quickly' (e.g. b > 0.2) would achieve very nearly the same whole-path conductance as a conduit that widens at the optimal rate ($b \approx 0.2$), but would require more cell wall and therefore more C to construct. Any C invested beyond that necessary for a given conductance cannot be invested in further growth and reproduction. As a result, selection plausibly minimizes C cost for a given conductance (Mencuccini *et al.*, 2007).

5. Why does a simple widened pipe model predict the tip-tobase exponent so well?

The prediction of a tip-to-base widening rate of $D \propto L^{0.2}$ (Fig. 3) excludes much biological detail but nevertheless coincides strikingly with empirical observations, and how this happens remains an important research question. Real conduits are finite in length, have irregular internal sculpturing and constrictions that increase resistance, and water must pass through interconduit pit membranes (Comstock & Sperry, 2000; Carlquist, 2001; Becker et al., 2003; Pittermann et al., 2010; Brodersen et al., 2014; Schulte et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016; Medeiros et al., 2019); and, as explained in the following subsection, there are reasons to expect that selection can act on the relationship between conduit diameter and number (McCulloh et al., 2003, 2004, 2009; Mencuccini et al., 2007; Gleason *et al.*, 2018a). However, even though the $D \propto L^{0.2}$ model does not include these variables (Fig. 3), empirical observations converge remarkably on the predicted exponent. This suggests that the resistance imposed by vessel length variation, internal sculpture, and pits must scale isometrically with resistance, and thus conduit diameter, along conduits, and there is some evidence consistent with this expectation (Sperry et al., 2005). In a recent study along the length of a large giant sequoia, Lazzarin et al. (2016) found that tracheid diameter scaled with the expected $D \propto L^{0.2}$ (see also Becker et al., 2003). Remarkably, the areas of the pit apertures, the torus, and margo also scaled with distance from the tip with a 0.2

exponent, with the sum per tracheid of the open area of the margo scaling isometrically with tracheid lumen area. Though much remains to be explored, the results of Lazzarin *et al.* (2016) suggest that selection favors conductive systems in which features vary tip to base in such a way that increase in resistance is minimized with height growth, bearing out the predictions implied by the simple widened pipe model (Fig. 3).

6. What is the role of 'furcation'? Achieving conductance via conduit diameter vs conduit number

Murray's law shows that conductive systems in which conduits coalesce tip to base, as from capillaries to blood vessels to arteries to the aorta in mammals, have much lower construction costs per network conductance than those divided into parallel conduits (Murray, 1926). This coalescence ('furcation') is conspicuous in leaves, with fine terminal conduits quickly coalescing into fewer and fewer conduits per unit leaf area (McCulloh *et al.*, 2003, 2009; Gleason *et al.*, 2018a; Lechthaler *et al.*, 2019). Some studies have found that there is no coalescence in stems (Bettiati *et al.*, 2012), and even in species that do exhibit coalescence (McCulloh *et al.*, 2014), it is much less marked than in leaves. However, given that the rate of coalescence is largely unknown across species, this remains an important research priority.

7. What is the role of variation in leaf size?

The influence of leaf length on tip-to-base conduit widening remains to be explored in detail, but studies so far suggest that leaf size is a major factor in causing variation in terminal twig conduit diameter (Lechthaler et al., 2020). Longer leaves have longer path lengths, and thus wider conduits at the leaf base (Fig. 5a,d). Conduits in leaves typically widen faster than in the stem, often about twice as fast, so small differences in leaf size will lead to large differences in petiole base conduit diameter and likely terminal twig conduit diameter (Sack et al., 2012; Gleason et al., 2018a; Lechthaler et al., 2020). Even given the same tip-to-base conduit widening exponent in the stem, individuals in which terminal twig conduit diameter is wider will have wider conduits throughout (Fig. 5a,d). Congruent with this expectation is the finding that across species, lower wood density is associated with wider vessels given plant height (Olson et al., 2018b). Lower wood density is associated with longer leaves (Olson et al., 2018a), and if longer leaves are associated with longer pathlengths, wider petiole base conduit diameters, and therefore wider terminal twig conduit diameters, then the leaf sizetwig size spectrum (Westoby & Wright, 2003) could be related to variation about the Y-axis in tip-to-base conduit widening profiles (Fig. 5a,d), another expectation remaining to be explored.

8. How do conduit widening and plant height interact with adaptation to climate and climate change?

If taller plants have predictably wider conduits and if wider conduits are more vulnerable to embolism, then height should be a crucial variable involved in adaptation to climate, plastic acclimation to microsite conditions, and plant responses to climate change (Coomes et al., 2007; Pittermann et al., 2014; Olson et al., 2018b). Assuming that wider conduits are more vulnerable to drought-induced embolism - and there is evidence consistent with and equivocal with respect to this possibility (Hargrave et al., 1994; Cai & Tyree, 2010; Jacobsen et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019) - this suggests that individual plants will plastically grow to the height corresponding to the conduit diameter permitted by microsite conditions and remain at that height unless conditions change. This would also suggest that, at the same site and within a given species, individuals with the widest conduits for their height should also be more vulnerable to embolism. Consistent with this notion a survey of Pinus sylvestris showd that individuals that were in declining health at the same site had wider conduits (Kiorapostolou et al., 2020). Conversely, selecting individuals of a species with relatively narrow conduits for a given height (incurring into the lower shaded space in Fig. 2) should result in more drought-resistant variants (cf. Rosner et al., 2016). Variation in height-specific conduit diameter might also explain the shedding of terminal branches commonly observed during episodes of forest dieback (McDowell et al., 2008). Trees that shed their terminal branches (Rood et al., 2000) would not only reduce transpirational demand on the conduit network, but the remaining branches would also have shorter path lengths and therefore also narrower and more drought-resistant conduits.

9. How does selection favoring tip-to-base conduit widening interact with storage and support functions of the xylem?

Further aspects not included the single capillary model (Fig. 3) are the mechanical and storage roles of secondary xylem, but it is clear that the conduction-storage-support tradeoff is key to understanding xylem evolution (Montes-Cartas et al., 2017; Pratt & Jacobsen, 2017). That vessels scale similarly across self- and nonself-supporting plants suggests that mechanics has no influence on the rate of tip-to-base conduit widening (Rosell & Olson, 2014; see also Domec et al., 2019). Recent studies in angiosperms (Olson et al., 2014, 2020) indicate that vessels become slightly more abundant per square millimeter at the base with increase in tree height than would be expected given the simple geometric tradeoff in which vessel density should scale linearly with the square of vessel diameter (Ewers et al., 2007; Zanne et al., 2010). This suggests the possibility that trees, as they get taller and have a greater xylem superstructure providing support, divert some C from support cells to vessels (Olson et al., 2014). So, though there is some indication that selection acting on mechanical support is involved in C allocation patterns that affect tip-to-base conduit widening, the relationship between such scaling and mechanical support, as well as the storage role of xylem, has only begun to be explored.

10. Does plant size or cambial age determine conduit diameter?

Although there are compelling reasons to think that plant size, via conductive path length, is a central factor affecting conduit

diameter, cambial age is often regarded as affecting diameter (Bailey & Tupper, 1918; Lenz et al., 2010; Li et al., 2019; Rodriguez-Zaccaro et al., 2019), though there is, as far as we are aware, no reason to expect age per se to predict conduit diameter beyond its correlation with plant size (Carrer et al., 2015). Poiseuille's law provides solid theory for expecting that increasing path length should lead to increased resistance with height growth and that tipto-base conduit widening can buffer this increase in resistance. Identifying whether size or age is the main predictor of conduit diameter could be readily tested by examining individuals of the same species that are of similar size but different age, and similar ages but different sizes, as in Rosell & Olson (2007), who used such an approach to show that stem biomechanics in a species of small tree is predicted only by stem size, not age. Likewise, Cary et al. (2020) provide an example of an ideal natural experiment in which to test the importance of size vs age on conduit diameter. If cambial age *per se* can in fact affect conduit diameter, then the development of solid theory outlining the age-diameter causal mechanism would be an important priority.

VIII. A change in the plant hydraulics paradigm: from cross-sections to entire path lengths

That the pervasive pattern of tip-to-base conduit widening is likely adaptive underscores that natural selection acts not on what is seen in a single stem cross-section or stem segment, which are the usual subjects of plant hydraulic studies, but instead acts on the characteristics of the entire conductive system, from roots to leaves, as an integrated functional unit (Prendin *et al.*, 2018b; Bouda *et al.*, 2019; Brodersen *et al.*, 2019; McCulloh *et al.*, 2019; Roddy *et al.*, 2019). This possibility requires fundamentally rethinking the way that plant hydraulic traits are studied (McCulloh *et al.*, 2019; Soriano *et al.*, 2020).

1. Methodological implications

That conduits scale tip to base broadly similarly across species provides a means of increasing comparability of measurements across individuals. Within-individual tip-to-base conduit widening profiles can be collected following the longest path length in an individual (Fig. 5a). Because conduit diameter changes quickly near the stem tip, it is important to sample frequently in this region to detect these changes. Across individuals or species, anatomists traditionally compare conduit diameters without taking plant height into account. This means that finding that one species has wider conduits than another could simply reflect that one species is typically taller than another. Anatomical and hydraulic measurements can thus standardize for tip-to-base conduit widening, so that it can be stated that, for a given height, species A has wider conduits that species B (Fig. 5b). Comparisons based on similar distances from the tip, taking leaf size increases into account, promise maximally comparable measurements (Fig. 5; Box 3; Soriano et al., 2020) . Soriano et al. (2020) provide an example in which on comparing the vulnerability to embolism of basal segments from tall individuals of Casimiroa (Rutaceae) with short individuals of Moringa (Moringaceae) it appeared that Casimiroa $\ensuremath{\text{Box}}\xspace$ 3 Statistical resources for studying tip-to-base conduit widening

- (1) D, conduit diameter
- (2) DistTip, distance from the stem tip
- (3) *L*, total plant height, stem length, or conductive path length

Within-individual tip-to-base widening profiles

For one individual, the relationship is often reflected well by: $log_{10}D{\approx}log_{10}(DistTip)$

For profiles from multiple individuals, including height can help take into account any tendency for Y-intercept to increase with height; for example, if leaf length increases with height:

 $\log_{10}D \approx \log_{10}(\text{DistTip}) + \log_{10}L$

Slopes may lower with height, so it is likely necessary to nest data within individuals.

Comparative/across-individual sampling

This strategy samples similar points across individuals; for example, at the stem tip D_{tip} and at the base D_{base} . How both scale with L (as in Fig. 1d–f) can be studied with:

 $\log_{10}D_{\text{base}} \approx \log_{10}L \pmod{1}$

 $\log_{10}D_{tip} \approx \log_{10}L \pmod{2}$

If D_{tip} increases with height, then the $\log_{10}D_{base} \approx \log_{10}L$ slope will increase more steeply than the within-individual tip-to-base widening rate (Fig. 1d). Here are two strategies for inferring the within-individual tip-to-base widening rate (Anfodillo *et al.*, 2006):

a Fit models 1 and 2; subtract slope of model 2 from model 1.

b Calculate W (for 'widening') by dividing mean $D_{\text{base}}/D_{\text{tip}}$ for each sample; fit $\log_{10} W \approx \log_{10} L$.

If leaf length varies across individuals, terminal twig conduit diameter will vary, leading to differences in slope between within-individual and across-individual sampling (Fig. 1d). This effect can be tested for with:

 $\log_{10}D \approx \log_{10}L + \log_{10}(\text{Leaf length})$

Such an approach can be used for testing for the effects of other continuous variables. such as wood density (Olson *et al.*, 2018b, 2020), or categorical variables. such as perforation plate type or vesturing (Medeiros *et al.*, 2019):

 $\log_{10}D \approx \log_{10}L + categorical | continuous variable$

For hydraulic measurements

Sampling a constant distance from the stem tip (e.g. 50 cm) and including leaf size as a covariate should produce informatively comparable results; for example, for P_{50} , the pressure at which 50% conductivity is lost:

 $\log_{10}(P_{50} \text{ at } 50 \text{ cm from tip}) \approx \log_{10}(\text{Leaf size})$

was more vulnerable than *Moringa*. However, when individuals of *equal height* were compared, it was clear that *Moringa* was markedly more vulnerable than *Casimiroa*. It therefore seems likely that standardizing for tip-to-base conduit widening and plant height could reduce at least some of the notorious noise in vulnerability curves (Fig. 5; Box 3; Olson *et al.*, 2018b; Soriano *et al.*, 2020). Along these lines, it is a common practice in studies of plant hydraulics to standardize twig samples by diameter. Because species commonly differ in branch length–diameter allometry – with

Tansley review

species with lower wood density having thicker branches (Rosell et al., 2012; Olson et al., 2018a) - standardizing by twig diameter necessarily introduces a great deal of variation in conductive path length, and therefore in conduit diameter. Careful standardization of twig samples is particularly important because conduit diameter changes rapidly over such short distances near the stem tip (Figs 1,5), and so even small variation in the distance from the tip in twig samples is associated with large differences in conduit diameter. Sampling with respect to distance from the ground (Li et al., 2019) will not standardize measurements because widening begins at the stem tip and proceeds through the base into the roots, making distance from the base an arbitrary reference point (Box 2; Prendin et al., 2018b). Even what index of conduit diameter best reflects selection acting on plant hydraulics is an object for research; in *Picea abies*, there is evidence that tangential diameter provides better biological signal than radial diameter (Rosner et al., 2016; Piermattei et al., 2020). Similarly, given that species differ in how direct or circuitous the route is that water takes within stems (Vité & Rudinsky, 1959; Waisel et al., 1972), even how to measure path length precisely requires examination. Taking tip-to-base conduit diameter widening into account in measurements of plant anatomy and hydraulics - to identify functionally relevant differences for a given height in crucial indices such as hydraulic conductance, leaf specific conductivity, or the Huber value - is therefore an essential area of investigation to move toward study of the conductive system as an integrated whole (McCulloh et al., 2019; Soriano et al., 2020).

IX. Conclusion

Testing hypotheses of the function of tip-to-base conduit widening, and thus its adaptive origin, requires broad collaboration across the wide range of expertise in plant biology. It will require the participation of anatomists, whose insights are essential in the challenging situation of studying conduit diameter across the vast diversity of vascular plants. For example, distinguishing between vessels and conductive imperforate tracheary elements cannot be done based on cell diameter alone or with measurement software (Fig. 5a). Instead, it requires the experience of the trained anatomist, and yet is crucial for accurate measurement of conduit diameters and distributions (Carlquist, 1985b; Barotto et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2020). Similarly, plant physiological expertise will be required to compare the function of the 'empty zone' and common variants (Fig. 2), if these can be produced. The expertise of developmental biologists will be required to produce these variants via hormonal or other perturbation (Scarpella, 2017; Johnson et al., 2018), as well as in determining the mechanisms permitting or prohibiting cell expansion along the stem. Testing hypotheses of adaptation also requires the essential participation of all three of the subdisciplinary approaches within evolutionary biology, which are population biology, optimality modeling, and comparative biology (Olson & Arroyo-Santos, 2015). Only broad collaboration across all of these biological disciplines will lead to a satisfactory explanation for the pervasiveness of tip-to-base conduit diameter scaling in the terrestrial vascular plants across extremes of size, life form, and climate world-wide.

Acknowledgements

KAM was supported by a National Science Foundation grant IOS-1557906 and DOE TES Award DESC0019037. MEO was supported by project IN210719 of the Programa de Apoyo a Proyectos de Investigación e Innovación Tecnológica, UNAM, and Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología, Mexico, project A1-S-26934. We thank Jarmila Pittermann, three anonymous reviewers, Julieta Rosell, Emilio Petrone, Rachel Spicer, and Kasia Ziemińska for critical discussion and suggestions, and Holly Slater for kind guidance.

Author contributions

All authors participated in designing the research and writing the manuscript.

ORCID

Tommaso Anfodillo D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2750-9918 Sean M. Gleason D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5607-4741 Katherine A. McCulloh D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0801-3968

Mark E. Olson () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3715-4567

References

- Ambrose AR, Baxter WL, Wong CS, Burgess SSO, Williams CB, Næsborg RR, Koch GW, Dawson TE. 2016. Hydraulic constraints modify optimal photosynthetic profiles in giant sequoia trees. *Oecologia* 182: 713–730.
- Anfodillo T, Carraro V, Carrer M, Fior C, Rossi S. 2006. Convergent tapering of xylem conduits in different woody species. *New Phytologist* 169: 279–290.
- Anfodillo T, Deslauriers A, Menardi R, Tedoldi L, Petit G, Rossi S. 2012. Widening of xylem conduits in a conifer tree depends on the longer time of cell expansion downwards along the stem. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 63: 837–845.
- Anfodillo T, Petit G, Crivellaro A. 2013. Axial conduit widening in woody species: a still neglected anatomical pattern. *IAWA Journal* 34: 352–364.
- Anfodillo T, Petit G, Sterck F, Lechthaler S, Olson ME. 2016. Allometric trajectories and 'stress': a quantitative approach. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: e1681.
- Arsuffi G, Braybrook SA. 2018. Acid growth: an ongoing trip. Journal of Experimental Botany 69: 137–146.
- Arthur W. 2002. The interaction between developmental bias and natural selection: from centipede segments to a general hypothesis. *Heredity* **89**: 239–246.
- Bailey IW, Tupper WW. 1918. Size variation in tracheary cells: I. A comparison between the secondary xylems of vascular cryptogams, gymnosperms and angiosperms. *Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences* 54: 149–204.
- Barotto AJ, Fernandez ME, Gyenge J, Meyra A, Martinez-Meier A, Monteoliva S. 2016. First insights into the functional role of vasicentric tracheids and parenchyma in eucalyptus species with solitary vessels: do they contribute to xylem efficiency or safety? *Tree Physiology* 36: 1485–1497.
- Becker P, Gribben RJ, Lim CM. 2000. Tapered conduits can buffer hydraulic conductance from path-length effects. *Tree Physiology* 20: 965–967.
- Becker P, Gribben RJ, Schulte PJ. 2003. Incorporation of transfer resistance between tracheary elements into hydraulic resistance models for tapered conduits. *Tree Physiology* 23: 1009–1019.
- Bettiati D, Petit G, Anfodillo T. 2012. Testing the equi-resistance principle of the xylem transport system in a small ash tree: empirical support from anatomical analyses. *Tree Physiology* 32: 171–177.

- Blumberg MS. 2010. Freaks of nature: what anomalies tell us about development and evolution. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Bouda M, Windt CW, McElrone AJ, Brodersen CR. 2019. *In vivo* pressure gradient heterogeneity increases flow contribution of small diameter vessels in grapevine. *Nature Communications* 10: e5645.
- Brakefield PM. 2006. Evo-devo and constraints on selection. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21: 362–368.
- Brodersen C, Jansen S, Choat B, Rico C, Pittermann J. 2014. Cavitation resistance in seedless vascular plants: the structure and function of interconduit pit membranes. *Plant Physiology* 165: 895–904.
- Brodersen CR, Roddy AB, Wason JW, McElrone AJ. 2019. Functional status of xylem through time. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 70: 407–433.
- Cabon A, Fernández-de-Uña L, Gea-Izquierdo G, Meinzer FC, Woodruff DR, Martínez-Vilalta J, De Cáceres M. 2020. Water potential control of turgordriven tracheid enlargement in Scots pine at its xeric distribution edge. New Phytologist 225: 209–221.
- Cai J, Tyree MT. 2010. The impact of vessel size on vulnerability curves: data and models for within-species variability in saplings of aspen, *Populus tremuloides* Michx. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 33: 1059–1069.
- Carlquist S. 1985a. Observations on the functional wood histology of vines and lianas. *Aliso* 11: 139–157.
- Carlquist S. 1985b. Vasicentric tracheids as a drought survival mechanism in the woody flora of southern California and similar regions; review of vasicentric tracheids. *Aliso* 11: 37–68.
- Carlquist S. 1988. Wood anatomy of Drimys s.s. (Winteraceae). Aliso 12: 81-95.
- Carlquist S. 1989. Wood anatomy of Tasmannia. Aliso 12: 257-275.
- Carlquist S. 2001. Comparative wood anatomy. Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Carlquist S, Grant JR. 2005. Wood anatomy of Gentianaceae, tribe Helieae, in relation to ecology, habit, systematics, and sample diameter. *Brittonia* 57: 276–291.
- Carrer M, von Arx G, Castagneri D, Petit G. 2015. Distilling allometric and environmental information from time series of conduit size: the standardization issue and its relationship to tree hydraulic architecture. *Tree Physiology* 35: 27–33.
- Caruso CM, Maherali H, Martin RA. 2020. A meta-analysis of natural selection on plant functional traits. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 181: 44–55.
- Cary KL, Ranieri GM, Pittermann J. 2020. Xylem form and function under extreme nutrient limitation: an example from California's pygmy forest. *New Phytologist* 226: 760–769.
- Catovsky S, Holbrook NM, Bazzaz FA. 2002. Coupling whole-tree transpiration and canopy photosynthesis in coniferous and broad-leaved tree species. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 32: 295–309.
- Comstock JP, Sperry JS. 2000. Theoretical considerations of optimal conduit length for water transport in vascular plants. *New Phytologist* 148: 195–218.
- Cook ER, Kairiukstis LA. 2013. Methods of dendrochronology: applications in the environmental sciences. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer.
- Coomes DA, Jenkins KL, Cole LES. 2007. Scaling of tree vascular transport systems along gradients of nutrient supply and altitude. *Biology Letters* **3**: 87–90.
- Domec J, Berghoff H, Way DA, Moshelion M, Palmroth S, Kets K, Huang C, Oren R. 2019. Mechanisms for minimizing height-related stomatal conductance declines in tall vines. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 42: 3121–3139.
- Drobnitch ST, Jensen KH, Prentice P, Pittermann J. 2015. Convergent evolution of vascular optimization in kelp (Laminariales). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282: e20151667.
- Echeverría A, Anfodillo T, Soriano D, Rosell JA, Olson ME. 2019. Constant theoretical conductance, changes in vessel diameter and number with height growth in *Moringa oleifera*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **70**: 5765–5772.
- Ellison D, Morris CE, Locatelli B, Sheil D, Cohen J, Murdiyarso D, Gutierrez V, van Noordwijk M, Creed IF, Pokorny J *et al.* 2017. Trees, forests and water: cool insights for a hot world. *Global Environmental Change* 43: 51–61.
- Ewers FW, Ewers JM, Jacobsen AL, López-Portillo J. 2007. Vessel redundancy: modeling safety in numbers. *IAWA Journal* 28: 373–388.
- Fajardo A, Martínez-Pérez C, Cervantes-Alcayde MA, Olson ME. 2019. Stem length, not climate, controls vessel diameter in two trees species across a sharp precipitation gradient. *New Phytologist* 225: 2347–2355.
- Fan Z-X, Cao K-F, Becker P. 2009. Axial and radial variations in xylem anatomy of angiosperm and conifer trees in Yunnan, China. *IAWA Journal* 30: 1–13.

- Gleason SM, Blackman CJ, Gleason ST, McCulloh KA, Ocheltree TW, Westoby M. 2018a. Vessel scaling in evergreen angiosperm leaves conforms with Murray's law and area-filling assumptions: implications for plant size, leaf size and cold tolerance. *New Phytologist* 218: 1360–1370.
- Gleason SM, Butler DW, Waryszak P. 2013. Shifts in leaf and stem hydraulic traits across aridity gradients in eastern Australia. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 174: 1292–1301.
- Gleason SM, Stephens AEA, Tozer WC, Blackman CJ, Butler DW, Chang Y, Cook AM, Cooke J, Laws CA, Rosell JA *et al.* 2018b. Shoot growth of woody trees and shrubs is predicted by maximum plant height and associated traits. *Functional Ecology* 32: 247–259.

Grew N. 1682. The anatomy of plants. London, UK: W. Rawlins.

- Hacke UG, Spicer R, Schreiber SG, Plavcová L. 2017. An ecophysiological and developmental perspective on variation in vessel diameter. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 40: 831–845.
- Hargrave KR, Kolb KJ, Ewers FW, Davis SD. 1994. Conduit diameter and drought-induced embolism in *Salvia mellifera* Greene (Labiatae). *New Phytologist* 126: 695–705.
- Jacobsen AL, Brandon Pratt R, Venturas MD, Hacke UG, Lens F. 2019. Large volume vessels are vulnerable to water-stress-induced embolism in stems of poplar. *IAWA Journal* 40: 4–22.
- Jacobsen AL, Valdovinos-Ayala J, Rodriguez-Zaccaro FD, Hill-Crim MA, Percolla MI, Venturas MD. 2018. Intra-organismal variation in the structure of plant vascular transport tissues in poplar trees. *Trees* 32: 1335–1346.
- James S, Meinzer F, Goldstein G, Woodruff D, Jones T, Restom T, Mejia M, Clearwater M, Campanello P. 2003. Axial and radial water transport and internal water storage in tropical forest canopy trees. *Oecologia* 134: 37–45.
- Johnson D, Eckart P, Alsamadisi N, Noble H, Martin C, Spicer R. 2018. Polar auxin transport is implicated in vessel differentiation and spatial patterning during secondary growth in *Populus. American Journal of Botany* 105: 186–196.
- Junghans U, Langenfeld-Heyser R, Polle A, Teichmann T. 2004. Effect of auxin transport inhibitors and ethylene on the wood anatomy of poplar. *Plant Biology* 6: 22–29.
- Junghans U, Polle A, Duchting P, Weiler E, Kuhlman B, Gruber F, Teichmann T. 2006. Adaptation to high salinity in poplar involves changes in xylem anatomy and auxin physiology. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 29: 1519–1531.
- Kikuzawa K, Lechowicz MJ. 2006. Toward synthesis of relationships among leaf longevity, instantaneous photosynthetic rate, lifetime leaf carbon gain, and the gross primary production of forests. *American Naturalist* 168: 373–383.
- Kiorapostolou N, Camarero JJ, Carrer M, Sterck F, Brigita B, Sangüesa-Barreda G, Petit G. 2020. Scots pine trees react to drought by increasing xylem and phloem conductivities. *Tree Physiology* 40: 774–781.
- Kiorapostolou N, Petit G. 2019. Similarities and differences in the balances between leaf, xylem and phloem structures in *Fraxinus ornus* along an environmental gradient. *Tree Physiology* 39: 234–242.
- Koch GW, Sillett SC, Jennings GM, Davis SD. 2004. The limits to tree height. *Nature* 428: 851–854.
- Lazzarin M, Crivellaro A, Williams CB, Dawson TE, Mozzi G, Anfodillo T. 2016. Tracheid and pit anatomy vary in tandem in a tall *Sequoiadendron giganteum* tree. *IAWA Journal* 37: 172–185.
- Lechthaler S, Colangeli P, Gazzabin M, Anfodillo T. 2019. Axial anatomy of the leaf midrib provides new insights into the hydraulic architecture and cavitation patterns of *Acer pseudoplatanus* leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 70: 6195–6201.
- Lechthaler S, Kiorapostolou N, Pitacco A, Anfodillo T, Petit G. 2020. The total path length hydraulic resistance according to known anatomical patterns: What is the shape of the root-to-leaf tension gradient along the plant longitudinal axis? *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **502**: e110369.
- Lechthaler S, Turnbull TL, Gelmini Y, Pirotti F, Anfodillo T, Adams MA, Petit G. 2018. A standardization method to disentangle environmental information from axial trends of xylem anatomical traits. *Tree Physiology* **39**: 495–502.
- Lenz P, Cloutier A, MacKay J, Beaulieu J. 2010. Genetic control of wood properties in *Picea glauca* – an analysis of trends with cambial age. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 40: 703–715.
- Li S, Klepsch M, Jansen S, Schmitt M, Lens F, Karimi Z, Schuldt B, Espino S, Schenk HJ. 2016. Intervessel pit membrane thickness as a key determinant of embolism resistance in angiosperm xylem. *IAWA Journal* 37: 152–171.

- Lintunen A, Kalliokoski T. 2010. The effect of tree architecture on conduit diameter and frequency from small distal roots to branch tips in *Betula pendula*, *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*. *Tree Physiology* **30**: 1433–1447.
- Liu H, Gleason SM, Hao G, Hua L, He P, Goldstein G, Ye Q. 2019. Hydraulic traits are coordinated with maximum plant height at the global scale. *Science. Advances* 5: eaav1332.
- MacColl ADC. 2011. The ecological causes of evolution. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 26: 514–522.
- Malpighi M. 1675. Anatome plantarum. London, UK: Johannis Martyn.
- McCulloh KA, Domec J, Johnson DM, Smith DD, Meinzer FC. 2019. A dynamic yet vulnerable pipeline: integration and coordination of hydraulic traits across whole plants. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 42: 2789–2807.
- McCulloh KA, Sperry JS, Adler FR. 2003. Water transport in plants obeys Murray's law. *Nature* 421: 939–942.
- McCulloh KA, Sperry JS, Adler FR. 2004. Murray's law and the hydraulic vs mechanical functioning of wood. *Functional Ecology* **18**: 931–938.
- McCulloh KA, Sperry JS, Meinzer FC, Lachenbruch B, Atala C. 2009. Murray's law, the 'Yarrum' optimum, and the hydraulic architecture of compound leaves. *New Phytologist* 184: 234–244.
- McDowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG *et al.* 2008. Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? *New Phytologist* 178: 719–739.
- Medeiros JS, Lens F, Maherali H, Jansen S. 2019. Vestured pits and scalariform perforation plate morphology modify the relationships between angiosperm vessel diameter, climate and maximum plant height. *New Phytologist* 221: 1802–1813.
- Medeiros JS, Pockman WT. 2014. Freezing regime and trade-offs with water transport efficiency generate variation in xylem structure across diploid populations of *Larrea* sp. (Zygophyllaceae). *American Journal of Botany* 101: 598–607.
- Meinzer FC, Bond BJ, Karanian JA. 2008. Biophysical constraints on leaf expansion in a tall conifer. *Tree Physiology* 28: 197–206.
- Mencuccini M, Hölttä T, Petit G, Magnani F. 2007. Sanio's laws revisited. Sizedependent changes in the xylem architecture of trees. *Ecology Letters* 10: 1084–1093.
- Michaletz ST, Cheng D, Kerkhoff AJ, Enquist BJ. 2014. Convergence of terrestrial plant production across global climate gradients. *Nature* 512: 39–43.
- Montes-Cartas CG, Padilla P, Rosell JA, Domínguez CA, Fornoni J, Olson ME. 2017. Testing the hypothesis that biological modularity is shaped by adaptation: xylem in the *Bursera simaruba* clade of tropical trees. *Evolution & Development* 19: 111–123.
- Morris H, Gillingham MAF, Plavcová L, Gleason SM, Olson ME, Coomes DA, Fichtler E, Klepsch MM, Martínez-Cabrera HI, McGlinn DJ *et al.* 2018. Vessel diameter is related to amount and spatial arrangement of axial parenchyma in woody angiosperms. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 41: 245–260.
- Murray CD. 1926. The physiological principle of minimum work: I. The vascular system and the cost of blood volume. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 12: 207–214.
- Olson ME. 2012. The developmental renaissance in adaptationism. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 27: 278–287.
- Olson ME. 2019a. Overcoming the constraint-adaptation dichotomy: long live the constraint-adaptation dichotomy. In: Fusco G, ed. *Perspectives on evolutionary and developmental biology*. Padua, Italy: University of Padova Press, 78–94.
- Olson ME. 2019b. Spandrels and trait delimitation: no such thing as 'architectural constraint'. *Evolution & Development* 21: 59–71.
- **Olson ME. 2019c.** Plant evolutionary ecology in the age of the extended evolutionary synthesis. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* **59**: 493–502.
- Olson ME, Anfodillo T, Rosell JA, Petit G, Crivellaro A, Isnard S, León-Gómez C, Alvarado-Cárdenas LO, Castorena M. 2014. Universal hydraulics of the flowering plants: vessel diameter scales with stem length across angiosperm lineages, habits and climates. *Ecology Letters* 17: 988–997.
- Olson ME, Arroyo-Santos A. 2015. How to study adaptation (and why to do it that way). *Quarterly Review of Biology* **90**: 167–191.

- Olson ME, Arroyo-Santos A, Vergara-Silva F. 2019. A user's guide to metaphors in ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34: 605–615.
- **Olson ME, Rosell JA. 2006.** Using heterochrony to detect modularity in the evolution of stem diversity in the plant family Moringaceae. *Evolution* **60**: 724–734.
- Olson ME, Rosell JA. 2013. Vessel diameter–stem diameter scaling across woody angiosperms and the ecological causes of xylem vessel diameter variation. *New Phytologist* **197**: 1204–1213.
- Olson ME, Rosell JA, León C, Zamora S, Weeks A, Alvarado-Cárdenas LO, Cacho NI, Grant J. 2013. Convergent vessel diameter–stem diameter scaling across five clades of New and Old World eudicots from desert to rain forest. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 174: 1062–1078.
- Olson ME, Anfodillo T, Rosell JA, Martínez-Méndez N. 2020. Across climates and species, higher vapor pressure deficit is associated with wider vessels for plants of the same height. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* doi: 10.1111/pce.13884.
- Olson ME, Rosell JA, Martínez-Pérez C, León-Gómez C, Fajardo A, Isnard S, Cervantes-Alcayde M-A, Echeverría A, Figueroa-Abúndiz Segovia-Rivas A et al. 2020. Xylem vessel diameter–shoot length scaling: ecological significance of porosity types and other traits. *Ecological Monographs* 90: e01410.
- Olson ME, Rosell JA, Zamora Muñoz S, Castorena M. 2018a. Carbon limitation, stem growth rate and the biomechanical cause of Corner's rules. *Annals of Botany* 122: 583–592.
- Olson ME, Soriano D, Rosell JA, Anfodillo T, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ, León-Gómez C, Dawson T, Camarero Martínez JJ, Castorena M et al. 2018b. Plant height and hydraulic vulnerability to drought and cold. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 115: 7551–7556.
- Petit G, Anfodillo T. 2009. Plant physiology in theory and practice: an analysis of the WBE model for vascular plants. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 259: 1–4.
- Petit G, Anfodillo T, Carraro V, Grani F, Carrer M. 2011. Hydraulic constraints limit height growth in trees at high altitude. *New Phytologist* 189: 241–252.
- Petit G, Anfodillo T, De Zan C. 2009. Degree of tapering of xylem conduits in stems and roots of small *Pinus cembra* and *Larix decidua* trees. *Botany–Botanique* 87: 501–508.
- Petit G, Anfodillo T, Mencuccini M. 2008. Tapering of xylem conduits and hydraulic limitations in sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus*) trees. *New Phytologist* 177: 653–664.
- Petit G, Crivellaro A. 2014. Comparative axial widening of phloem and xylem conduits in small woody plants. *Trees* 28: 915–921.
- Petit G, DeClerck FAJ, Carrer M, Anfodillo T. 2014. Axial vessel widening in arborescent monocots. *Tree Physiology* 34: 137–145.
- Petit G, Pfautsch S, Anfodillo T, Adams MA. 2010. The challenge of tree height in *Eucalyptus regnans*: when xylem tapering overcomes hydraulic resistance. *New Phytologist* 187: 1146–1153.
- Petit G, Savi T, Consolini M, Anfodillo T, Nardini A. 2016. Interplay of growth rate and xylem plasticity for optimal coordination of carbon and hydraulic economies in *Fraxinus ornus* trees. *Tree Physiology* **36**: 1310–1319.
- Piermattei A, von Arx G, Avanzi C, Fonti P, Gärtner H, Piotti A, Urbinati C, Vendramin GG, Büntgen U, Crivellaro A. 2020. Functional relationships of wood anatomical traits in Norway spruce. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11: e683.
- Pittermann J, Choat B, Jansen S, Stuart SA, Lynn L, Dawson TE. 2010. The relationships between xylem safety and hydraulic efficiency in the Cupressaceae: the evolution of pit membrane form and function. *Plant Physiology* 153: 1919–1931.
- Pittermann J, Lance J, Poster L, Baer A, Fox LR. 2014. Heavy browsing affects the hydraulic capacity of *Ceanothus rigidus* (Rhamnaceae). *Oecologia* 175: 801– 810.
- Pittermann J, Sperry JS. 2006. Analysis of freeze-thaw embolism in conifers. The interaction between cavitation pressure and tracheid size. *Plant Physiology* 140: 374–382.
- Poorter H, Remkes C, Lambers H. 1990. Carbon and nitrogen economy of 24 wild species differing in relative growth rate. *Plant Physiology* 94: 621–627.
- Pratt RB, Jacobsen AL. 2017. Conflicting demands on angiosperm xylem: tradeoffs among storage, transport and biomechanics. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 40: 897–913.
- Prendin AL, Mayr S, Beikircher B, von Arx G, Petit G. 2018a. Xylem anatomical adjustments prioritize hydraulic efficiency over safety as Norway spruce trees grow taller. *Tree Physiology* 38: 1088–1097.

Prendin AL, Petit G, Fonti P, Rixen C, Dawes MA, von Arx G. 2018b. Axial xylem architecture of *Larix decidua* exposed to CO₂ enrichment and soil warming at the tree line. *Functional Ecology* 32: 273–287.

Roddy AB, van Blerk JJ, Midgley JJ, West AG. 2019. Ramification has little impact on shoot hydraulic efficiency in the sexually dimorphic genus *Leucadendron* (Proteaceae). *Peer*/7: e6835.

Rodriguez-Zaccaro FD, Valdovinos-Ayala J, Percolla MI, Venturas MD, Pratt RB, Jacobsen AL. 2019. Wood structure and function change with maturity: age of the vascular cambium is associated with xylem changes in current-year growth. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 42: 1816–1831.

Rood SB, Patiño S, Coombs K, Tyree MT. 2000. Branch sacrifice: cavitationassociated drought adaptation of riparian cottonwoods. *Trees* 14: 248–257.

Rosell JA, Olson ME. 2007. Testing implicit assumptions regarding the age vs. size dependence of stem biomechanics using *Pittocaulon (Senecio) praecox* (Asteraceae). *American Journal of Botany* 94: 161–172.

Rosell JA, Olson ME. 2014. Do lianas really have wide vessels? Vessel diameter–stem length scaling in non-self-supporting plants. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 16: 288–295.

Rosell JA, Olson ME, Aguirre-Hernández R, Sánchez-Sesma FJ. 2012. Ontogenetic modulation of branch size, shape, and biomechanics produces diversity across habitats in the *Bursera simaruba* clade of tropical trees. *Evolution & Development* 14: 437–449.

Rosell JA, Olson ME, Anfodillo T. 2017. Scaling of xylem vessel diameter with plant size: causes, predictions, and outstanding questions. *Current Forestry Reports* 3: 46–59.

Rosner S, Světlík J, Andreassen K, Børja I, Dalsgaard L, Evans R, Luss S, Tveito OE, Solberg S. 2016. Novel hydraulic vulnerability proxies for a boreal conifer species reveal that opportunists may have lower survival prospects under extreme climatic events. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: e831.

Ryan MG, Yoder BJ. 1997. Hydraulic limits to tree height and tree growth. *BioScience* 47: 235–242.

Sack L, Scoffoni C, McKown AD, Rawls M, Havran JC, Tran H, Tran T. 2012. Developmentally based scaling of leaf venation architecture explains global ecological patterns. *Nature Communications* **3**: e837.

Sanio K. 1872. Ueber die Grosse der Holzzellen bei gemeinen Kiefer (*Pinus sylyestris*). Jahr Wissenschaft Bot 8: 401–420.

Savage JA, Cavender-Bares J. 2013. Phenological cues drive an apparent trade-off between freezing tolerance and growth in the family Salicaceae. *Ecology* 94: 1708–1717.

Savage VM, Bentley LP, Enquist BJ, Sperry JS, Smith DD, Reich PB, von Allmen EI. 2010. Hydraulic trade-offs and space filling enable better predictions of vascular structure and function in plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 107: 22722–22727.

Scarpella E. 2017. The logic of plant vascular patterning. Polarity, continuity and plasticity in the formation of the veins and of their networks. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 45: 34–43.

Schlesinger WH, Jasechko S. 2014. Transpiration in the global water cycle. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 189–190: 115–117.

Schulte PJ, Hacke UG, Schoonmaker AL. 2015. Pit membrane structure is highly variable and accounts for a major resistance to water flow through tracheid pits in stems and roots of two boreal conifer species. *New Phytologist* 208: 102–113.

Scoffoni C, Chatelet DS, Pasquet-kok J, Rawls M, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ, Sack L. 2016. Hydraulic basis for the evolution of photosynthetic productivity. *Nature Plants* 2: e16072.

Selaya NG, Anten NPR. 2010. Leaves of pioneer and later-successional trees have similar lifetime carbon gain in tropical secondary forest. *Ecology* 91: 1102–1113.

Sevanto S, Holbrook NM, Ball MC. 2012. Freeze/thaw-induced embolism: probability of critical bubble formation depends on speed of ice formation. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 3: e107.

Shinozaki K, Yoda K, Hozumi K, Kira T. 1964a. A quantitative analysis of plant form – the pipe model theory: I. Basic analyses. *Japanese Journal of Ecology* 14: 97–105.

Shinozaki K, Yoda K, Hozumi K, Kira T. 1964b. A quantitative analysis of plant form – the pipe model theory: II. Further evidence of the theory and its application in forest ecology. *Japanese Journal of Ecology* 14: 133–139. Sillett SC, Van Pelt R, Koch GW, Ambrose AR, Carroll AL, Antoine ME, Mifsud BM. 2010. Increasing wood production through old age in tall trees. *Forest Ecology* and Management 259: 976–994.

Šímová I, Storch D. 2017. The enigma of terrestrial primary productivity: measurements, models, scales and the diversity-productivity relationship. *Ecography* 40: 239–252.

Soriano D, Echeverría A, Anfodillo T, Rosell JA, Olson ME. 2020. Hydraulic traits vary as the result of tip-to-base conduit widening in vascular plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 71: 4232–4242.

Sperry JS. 2000. Hydraulic constraints on plant gas exchange. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 104: 13–23.

Sperry JS, Hacke UG, Wheeler JK. 2005. Comparative analysis of end wall resistivity in xylem conduits. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 28: 456–465.

Stephenson NL, Das AJ, Condit R, Russo SE, Baker PJ, Beckman NG, Coomes DA, Lines ER, Morris WK, Rüger N et al. 2014. Rate of tree carbon accumulation increases continuously with tree size. Nature 507: 90–93.

Stillwell RC, Shingleton AW, Dworkin I, Frankino WA. 2016. Tipping the scales: evolution of the allometric slope independent of average trait size. *Evolution* 70: 433–444.

Taylor EL, Ryberg PE. 2007. Tree growth at polar latitudes based on fossil tree ring analysis. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 255: 246–264.

Vité JP, Rudinsky JA. 1959. The water conducting systems in conifers and their importance to the distribution of trunk-injected chemicals. *Contributions of the Boyce Thompson Arboretum* 10: 27–38.

Vogel S. 1994. Life in moving fluids: the physical biology of flow. Princeton, NJ, USA: Princeton University Press.

Waisel Y, Liphschitz N, Kuller Z. 1972. Patterns of water movement in trees and shrubs. *Ecology* 53: 520–523.

West GB, Brown JH, Enquist BJ. 1999. A general model for the structure and allometry of plant vascular systems. *Nature* 400: 664–667.

Westoby M, Wright IJ. 2003. The leaf size-twig size spectrum and its relationship to other important spectra of variation among species. *Oecologia* 135: 621–628.

Wilkes J. 1986. Anatomy of zones of ring shake in *Eucalyptus maculata*. IAWA Journal 7: 3–11.

Williams CB, Anfodillo T, Crivellaro A, Lazzarin M, Dawson TE, Koch GW. 2019. Axial variation of xylem conduits in the Earth's tallest trees. *Trees* 33: 1299–1311.

Woodruff DR, Bond BJ, Meinzer FC. 2004. Does turgor limit growth in tall trees? *Plant, Cell & Environment* 27: 229–236.

Woodruff DR, Meinzer FC. 2011. Size-dependent changes in biophysical control of tree growth: the role of turgor. In: Meinzer FC, Lachenbruch B, Dawson TE, eds. *Siz- and age-related changes in tree structure and function*. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer, 363–384.

Zach A, Schuldt B, Brix S, Culmsee H, Culmsee H. 2010. Vessel diameter and xylem hydraulic conductivity increase with tree height in tropical rainforest trees in Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Flora* 205: 506–512.

Zanne AE, Westoby M, Falster DS, Ackerly DD, Loarie SR, Arnold SEJ, Coomes DA. 2010. Angiosperm wood structure: global patterns in vessel anatomy and their relation to wood density and potential conductivity. *American Journal of Botany* 97: 207–215.

Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

 Table S1 Species providing evidence of predictable tip-to-base conduit widening.

Please note: Wiley Blackwell are not responsible for the content or functionality of any Supporting Information supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the *New Phytologist* Central Office.